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The Parson Capen House is a two-and-a-half story frame structure with central chimney 
and high pitched gable roof. The framework of heavy oak timbers is mortised 
and tenoned together, held in place by wooden pins. The foundation timbers of 
the two-story house rest on an under-pinning of unmortared fieldstones. The second 
story widely overhangs in the front and the third story projects slightly at either 
gable end. These overhangs are supported by shaped wooden brackets, and carved drops 
or pendants ornament the corners of the building. These brackets and pendants are the 
only decorative features on the exterior. The casement windows are slightly asymmet­ 
rically placed. The entrance is also placed off-center and receives no special emphasis 
in the arrangement of openings.

The house has the typical two room floor plan of a seventeenth-century, central chimney 
structure, with the parlor and hall or kitchen located on either side of the brick 
chimney. Although as seen from the outside the house seems large, inside the effect 
is small and somewhat confining. This is caused primarily by the low ceilings and huge 
summer beams. Also each of the first floor room? is dominated by a fireplace which fills 
the major portion of the inner wall. This is particularly well illustrated in the hall, 
the room to the right of the entrance porch. Serving both as kitchen and living room 
it is an important carry-over from the Middle Ages where the hall formed the core of 
the building. The parlor was used for more formal entertaining and has no medieval 
counterpart. Instead, it illustrates the changing social pattern of the British middle- 
class and was directly related to life in the New England community.

Inside the porch or entryway, the steep staircase, with the original knobbed newel, .and 
turned oak balusters winds up beside the chimney. The brickwork of the chimney is 
exposed in the entry. Hand forged nails stud the heavy front door, while battens secure 
the board doors to the hall and parlor. The floor has characteristic wide boards, sanded 
smooth and the walls are wainscoted in the typical fashion for the period. A reproduction 
of this hall and kitchen appears in the American wing of the Metropolitan Museum of Art. 
The upstairs rooms were once used for a resident caretaker and are still in their 
modern state.

As it exists today the Parson Capen House is the product of its 1913 restoration. Two 
major changes seem to have occurred at this time. Photographs taken before the 
restoration show a plain rectangular chimney without clustered sides and ornamental 
cap. There may have been no reason to assume that the plain chimney was original but 
there was also no evidence to indicate the compound chimney of the restoration duplicated 
the original one. This new chimney is a reproduction of one which was on the Hunt House 
in Salem (Note: Pierson, p. 52) as stated in a letter by Dow to William Sumner Appleton 
dated March 9, 19lU in the files of SPNEA.

The other change concerns the windows. Structural evidence indicates the original 
windows were not paired vertical frames but rather horizontal strips of three casements,
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The Parson Capen House is a remarkable survival of a New England seventeenth-century 
house. Still occupying its original site on a slight knoll immediately adjacent to the 
town common across from the meeting house, the house is unique in that it can be dated 
exactly by the date of the raising of the frame, June 18, 1683, which is carved on the 
chimney girt in the upper east chamber. Its location on the common near the meeting-house 
illustrates the central role of the parson, Reverend Joseph Capen, in the life of the 
town; its simplicity and austerity recall the vigorous life of the New England pioneers.

HISTORY

The Reverend Joseph Capen was born in Dorchester, Massachusetts in 1658 and was educated 
at Harvard. In l68l, at the age of,twenty-three, he was called to the pastorate at 
Topsfield where he was promised a salary of either seventy-five pounds in country pay, 
(such as corn, pork and keep), or twenty pounds in silver and forty-five pounds in country 
pay. He chose the latter. A year later he married the daughter of a well-to-do Ipswich 
family, Priscilla, daughter of John and Priscilla Appleton. The Parson Capen House was 
built in the summer of 1683 on a twelve acre lot of land laid out to him by the town in 
1682.

The house was acquired by the Topsfield Historical Society in 1913 and extensively restored 
under the direction of George Francis Dow, who also restored the John Ward House in 
Salem. It is operated today as a house museum.
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the type found in the Whipple House in Ipswich. The timbers in the framing of the 
house are original, but much of the interior woodwork and exterior finish has been 
replaced.

A modern ell, was added in 197^ for use by the Topsfield Historical Society as a study 
room.
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